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Introduction



No campaign in World War II was undertaken with as many shortcomings as the invasion of Tulagi and Guadalcanal in the summer of 1942.

Rushed into action with a minimum of preparation, virtually no enemy intelligence, and using equipment left over from World War I, the grass-green infantrymen of the 1st Marine Division and its attached units were forced to endure almost four months of constant shelling, bombing and ground attacks before the issue of who would ultimately prevail—the Japanese or the Americans—was finally decided.

Conceived, planned, and launched on a crash basis, Operation Watchtower, as the Guadalcanal campaign was called, defied all the odds and somehow managed to succeed, beating the more experienced Japanese at their own game.

“One reason the struggles in the Pacific constantly teetered on the brink of disaster is that they were shoestring operations,” wrote historian William Manchester, who was a twenty-year-old sergeant with the 5th Marines on Guadalcanal. “The Navy let the Marines on the Canal down because Washington was letting the Navy down, devoting nearly all its resources to Eisenhower’s coming invasion of North Africa. We knew that our theater was a casualty of discrimination, not because Tokyo Rose told us—though she did, again and again—but because our own government, appealing to its national constituency, which was almost entirely comprised of former Europeans and their descendants, boasted of it.”1

(Tokyo Rose was an American citizen of Japanese descent who broadcast Japanese propaganda to American troops in the Pacific. Following the war, she was tried for treason and served six years in prison. She received a Presidential pardon in 1977.)

These untested leathernecks learned on the job in one of the most inhospitable and unknown environments on the planet. “If Admiral [Richmond Kelly] Turner’s task force had been embarked on a voyage to the moon, the junior officers and bluejackets would have been only a little more ignorant of their destination than they were of Guadalcanal,”2 historian Samuel Eliot Morison wrote.

According to Frank, “no campaign in World War II saw such sustained violence in all three dimensions—sea, land, and air—where the issue hung in doubt so long.3

“Guadalcanal is not a name but an emotion,” Morison wrote, “recalling desperate fights in the air, furious night naval battles, frantic work at supply or construction, savage fighting in the sodden jungle, nights broken by screaming bombs and deafening explosions of naval shells…It was a desperate campaign for control of an island that neither side really wanted, but which neither could afford to abandon to the enemy.”

Morison, the preeminent historian of the campaign, believed that Japan’s only interest in Guadalcanal was to protect the eastern flank of its advance on Port Moresby on New Guinea.

“The Allies reacted quickly, realizing that if they could not hold Guadalcanal they might never be able to climb the Solomons ladder to Rabaul,” he wrote. “The Japanese strategists, notoriously inflexible, required almost a month to see the point. They continued to push the Port Moresby business, and reinforced their Guadalcanal garrison by driblets, hoping that a few hundred more troops and a few more air strikes and bombardment missions would wipe out the Marines. When they finally ‘threw the book’ at Guadalcanal, it was too late; if they had done so in August or the first week of September, they could hardly have failed to clean up.”4

The Battle of Guadacanal was a wellspring of extraordinary acts of unit and individual heroism—on both sides. Heroism under fire was the order of the day, every day, from the landings on August 7 until the island was officially declared secure six months later.

There is no doubt that the speed of America’s decision to assault Guadalcanal only two months after the victory at Midway caught the Japanese by surprise. It is also quite probable that the enemy just might have overextended themselves and were vulnerable to a quick, decisive strike at their flank. The surprise of the assault gave the Marines just enough time to consolidate and expand their toehold around Henderson Field before the Japanese could react.

Fortunately for the Marines, the Japanese, who had much more combat experience and far better equipment, failed to develop a sound battle plan to retake the airfield. They adhered to a fatal policy of piecemeal commitment, consistently underestimating Marine strength and their capacity to fight. And, they did a poor job of understanding the logistics necessary to support their own soldiers once ashore. After each defeat, the Japanese fell back into the jungle, often with no food, water, medicine, or weapons. They quickly came up with a new name for Guadalcanal. They called it “Starvation Island.”

Japanese General Kiyotake Kawaguchi put it even better when he wrote in his memoirs that “Guadalcanal is no longer merely a name of an island in Japanese military history. It is the name of the graveyard of the Japanese Army.”5

“Many of the Japanese soldiers and officers believed their own propaganda—that Americans were unable to bear hardship and worshiped only material luxuries which could be seen in American movies,” wrote William H. Whyte, an intelligence officer with the 1st Marines. “American tactics, their manuals explained, disdained the spiritual element exemplified by Japanese doctrine and relied on material to carry the day. The Yankees, they believed, feared cold steel. Americans themselves, it needs to be said, worried if their own fighting men would be a match for these proud and fanatical warriors from Japan. Guadalcanal would change that.

“By all accounts, Japanese soldiers were supposed to be brilliant tacticians, merciless night fighters, capable sharpshooters. Guadalcanal would change that too. They were, we would find, none of these things. They attacked foolishly, closely bunched together, making themselves bull’s-eyes for our own sharpshooters. They frequently got lost at night and had a terrible time coordinating night attacks…When things went right, they frequently failed to follow up their successes, losing the advantage time and time again. And when things went wrong, as they frequently did, their commanding officers, in the best Bushido warrior tradition, would commit suicide.”6

Much of the credit for the American victory belongs to Maj. Gen. Alexander A. Vandegrift, the commander of the 1st Marine Division. Vandegrift, who would earn the Congressional Medal of Honor for his leadership, and his staff always managed to stay one step ahead of the Japanese, thwarting every attempt to recapture Henderson Field during the first three months of the campaign. He had just enough confidence to win the day.

“I knew only too well that if someone at Marine Corps Schools had answered a problem of this nature with the forces now at my disposal he would have failed the course,” he wrote shortly after landing. “We didn’t have much of anything, we didn’t know what we were going to hit, but we did know enough, in my opinion, to justify what military writers like to call ‘a calculated risk.’”7

Even when the issue was in serious doubt—and that was the case several times—Vandegrift, like the Marines under him, stood resolute. Guadalcanal, he told his deputies, would not become another Wake Island or Bataan.

America’s greatest asset during these dark opening days of the war in the Pacific was the individual courage of its Marines, sailors and airmen, who, despite inferior equipment and constant harassment, met every challenge the Japanese threw at them. For the most part, they were just kids with the cocky swagger of youth. They had nicknames like “Black Jack,” “Red,” “Tex,” and “Spike.” Volunteers all, they had a toughness beyond their years.

The price of victory did not come cheap. The fierce fighting left thousands of corpses littering the jungle, while the waters around Guadalcanal claimed fliers by the hundreds and sailors by the thousands. The twenty-mile strait between Tulagi and Guadalcanal became a watery graveyard for some forty U.S. and Japanese ships and hundreds of aircraft from both sides. Called Sealark Channel, it took only a few days to earn the nickname of “Ironbottom Sound.”

Best estimates put American casualties at 7,100 killed (1,207 Marines, 562 Army troops, 4,911 Naval personnel and 420 airmen).8 It is believed that more than 30,000 Japanese soldiers, sailors and airmen perished during the battle, the majority from disease and famine.

The American triumph at Guadalcanal was the literal turning point of the war in the Pacific. While the sea and air victory at Midway in early June of 1942 stopped Japanese expansion in the central Pacific, the defeat at Guadalcanal redirected Japan’s strategic initiatives from the offensive to the defensive. It also relieved the threat the Japanese posed to Australia, New Zealand and other islands in the South Pacific.

Sixteen Medals of Honor were awarded for bravery during the Guadalcanal campaign, four to Navy personnel, one to a Coast Guardsman, five to pilots and six to Marines on the ground. A total of 166 Navy Crosses were awarded. Many of these recipients were recommended for the Medal of Honor.

No outfit was more heroic than the 1st Marine Raider Battalion. No individual was more courageous than its commander, Col. Merritt A. Edson. Edson and his beaten-down composite battalion of just over 800 men won everlasting glory during the nights of September 12 and September 13, beating back a force of about 2,500 Japanese infantrymen on a ridge a mile south of Henderson Field to keep the enemy from overrunning the airfield and retaking Guadalcanal. Though there were other battles of equal fury on Guadalcanal, the victory at “Bloody Ridge,” later renamed “Edson’s Ridge,” gave the Marines the confidence and breathing room they needed to hang on to this critical piece of terrain.

Of all the many dark days early in the fighting at Guadalcanal, the period just before the desperate two-day battle of “Edson’s Ridge” in mid-September may have been the darkest. Many years later, it moved historian Matthew Stevenson to write that “if Guadalcanal was Gettysburg in the Pacific, this was Little Round Top.”9

Lady Luck shined on the Raiders several times during their ten weeks of action, first at Tulagi, where they were the first offensive unit to kill and be killed in the Pacific war, and then at Guadalcanal, where they became the 1st Marine Division’s “fire brigade.” Vandegrift came to call the Raiders his “do-or-die” men.

Several times fate interceded to spare the Raiders from disaster. When ships finally arrived to take them off Guadalcanal on October 13, less than half of the original force of 875 men were still on the island. Many of the survivors, weakened by malaria and other tropical illnesses, had to be assisted in boarding the transports. The rest of the battalion had either been killed or previously evacuated with wounds or debilitating diseases.

In ten weeks of almost continuous action, this small group of brave Marines had earned two Congressional Medals of Honor and 37 Navy Crosses. Another dozen Navy corpsmen and two Navy doctors assigned to the Raiders would also receive the Navy Cross during this period.

Heroes all, this book is dedicated to these steadfast Marines of the 1st Raider Battalion.
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1

Background




When Adm. Chester W. Nimitz assumed command of the Pacific Fleet on December 31, 1941, a little more than three weeks after the disaster at Pearl Harbor, his orders from his boss, Adm. Ernest J. King, were to cover and hold the Hawaii-Midway line, maintain communications with the West Coast and try to protect the sea lanes to Australia.

There was no talk of any offensive action. That probably wouldn’t happen until at least January of 1943, Nimitz was told.

America’s first offensive priority would be directed at stopping Germany. President Franklin D. Roosevelt had reached an agreement with British Prime Minister Winston Churchill that the defeat of Adolf Hitler’s regime was paramount to democracy’s survival. Having overrun much of Europe, the Germans seemed poised to overwhelm England and Russia and move into the oil-rich Middle East. America had decided that every ship, every bomb, every ounce of war material and every unit not urgently needed elsewhere would go toward bolstering the Soviet armies and to build up Allied forces in Britain for a possible assault on continental Europe late in 1942. The Pacific would have to wait.

Admiral King, who was possessed with a ruthless determination, had no intention of sitting and watching Japan’s aggressions go unchecked in the Pacific. He would not be a party to any “holding action.” Just a year short of mandatory retirement in 1942, King had served his country well for forty-one years. He was a legendary figure in the Navy both on and off duty. Intelligent and dedicated, King was a visible and colorful force in the politically charged arena of Washington politics. Asked how he got his appointment as Commander in Chief of the Navy, one of his aides told a reporter: “Well, I guess when the going gets tough, they send for the sons of bitches.”1

King was a hard-driving taskmaster who once told a subordinate: “You ought to be very suspicious of anyone who won’t take a drink or doesn’t like women.” King, the father of seven, was deficient in neither category.2

“He’s so tough he shaves with a blowtorch,” President Roosevelt said of his Navy chief more than once.3

King knew very well he had to keep his fiery temper under control. To object too strongly could cost him his career. So, he gave lip service to the “Europe first” strategy and bit his tongue while working tirelessly behind the scenes, lobbying anyone who would listen for men and equipment to slow down the Japanese expansion.

Token naval forces were sent to such backwater Pacific outposts as Canton Island and Christmas Island south of Hawaii and Samoa, Fiji and New Caledonia to the southwest. This last island, a French possession, was to be the principal advance base in the South Pacific. It had a great harbor near its capital city of Noumea.

The Japanese had established a similar ring of bases during their expansion after the outbreak of war. The most formidable base in the southwestern Pacific was at Rabaul on the island of New Britain. To the north was the bastion of Truk, Japan’s equivalent to Pearl Harbor. Both had excellent harbors and adjacent airfields.

The Japanese advances had caused serious alarm in Australia where they were woefully unprepared for war. Four of the country’s best divisions were deployed elsewhere, three in the Middle East and one in Malaya, all fighting under British control. Australian Prime Minister John Curtin demanded the return of at least two divisions from the Middle East to defend their homeland.

To insure allied harmony, Roosevelt decided on February 15, 1942 that the United States would assume responsibility for the defense of both Australia and New Zealand, promising to send two Army divisions (41st and 32nd) to the former and another (37th) to the latter. Admiral King also convinced FDR to send the carrier Lexington and its supporting ships to the South Pacific under the command of Rear Adm. Herbert Leary.4

Admiral King had a powerful ally in his quest to strike back at the Japanese. The American people were still seething with anger over the unprovoked attack at Pearl Harbor and they wanted revenge. Roosevelt, one of the most astute politicians in American history, knew he had to listen to the people. He loathed the Japanese for their treachery at Pearl Harbor. Nobody wanted payback more than he did.

With Roosevelt’s tacit approval, King moved aggressively to set up a line of bases in the South Pacific from which he could initiate future advances through the New Hebrides, Solomons and Bismarck Archipelago. Orders were given to Nimitz to formulate operational plans to assume the offensive against Japan. King made it clear, no matter what the consequences, that he absolutely refused to sit back and do nothing to counter Japanese aggression.

At a meeting of the Joint Chiefs of Staff on March 5, one chaired by Roosevelt, King again lobbied hard for offensive action in the Pacific. He reiterated his intentions of holding Hawaii and supporting Australia but he also offered a plan to drive northward from the New Hebrides to take the fight to the Japanese. FDR listened intently. King could tell by the end of the meeting that he had completely won over the commander in chief.

Army Chief of Staff George Marshall and Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson continued to argue for a commitment to an early attack in Europe from England but the strength of their convictions began to wane. The fact that King was outnumbered didn’t seem to faze him. On the contrary, the challenge seemed to embolden him. He told Marshall and Stimson he refused to remain on the defensive in the Pacific and if necessary he was prepared to use only Navy and Marine Corps forces for the job.

By mid-March, King had proposed that a series of “strong points” be established in the South Pacific, as a prelude to a step-by-step advance up the Solomon Islands. King did not yet realize it but his finger was pointing at Guadalcanal as the first step.

The bad news in the Pacific reached its nadir on April 9 when word of the surrender of Bataan in the Philippines was announced. Some 76,000 Filipinos and Americans were taken prisoner in the largest capitulation of military forces in the nation’s history. The news cast a gloom over the entire country.

Nine days later came the first good news from the Pacific when word was flashed that American aircraft had bombed Japan. Lt. Col. Jimmy Doolittle, an Army pilot, led a flight of sixteen B-25s off the deck of the USS Hornet on a daylight bombing raid and then flew off to airfields in China. Thirteen of the planes, each carrying four five-hundred-pound bombs, made runs over Tokyo while the other three, armed with incendiary bombs, flew over Kobe, Nagoya and Osaka.

The raid had Roosevelt’s fingerprints all over it. He had been lobbying for some kind of retaliatory action ever since Pearl Harbor.

The raid turned out to be more symbolic than destructive, but the psychological harm to Japan was enormous. It proved to the world that the Japanese homeland was not invulnerable and forced the enemy to divert more of its military resources to the home islands to ensure it wouldn’t happen again.

The Doolittle Raid had been a risky venture right from the beginning. It was supposed to be a night raid and all planes were scheduled to land at predetermined airfields deep in China behind Japanese lines. The carrier task force under Adm. Bill Halsey had been spotted some seven hundred miles east of Japan and had been forced to take off early, which put them over their targets about noon. Amazingly, none of the planes were shot down over Japan.

Flying on to China and running low on fuel, the task force ran into a heavy rain squall just as night fell. Eleven of the sixteen crews had to bail out, another four crash-landed, and the remaining crew became disoriented and wound up landing in Russian-held territory near Vladivostok. Two of the crews (a total of eight men) were captured when they were forced to crash-land or bail out over China.

All but nine of the eighty aviators on the raid survived. Four drowned and another was killed in a parachute mishap. Of the eight crewmen captured in China, three were executed by a Japanese firing squad after a sham war-crimes trial and another died in captivity. The executions of the airmen, who were accused of intentionally shooting up a schoolyard, infuriated Americans, who had another rallying cry to go along with “Remember Pearl Harbor” and “Remember Wake Island.”

The Japanese, who were unable to determine the size or direction of the attack, were humiliated. Adm. Isoroku Yamamoto was left with the embarrassing chore of explaining what happened to the Emperor and then promising that it would never happen again.

“Even though there wasn’t much damage, it’s a disgrace that the skies over the imperial capital should have been defiled without a single enemy plane shot down,” Yamamoto wrote. “It provides a regrettably graphic illustration of the saying that a bungling attack is better than the most skillful defense.”5

Roosevelt was delighted with the bombing raid. When asked by the media where the planes had come from, Roosevelt smiled broadly, leaned back in his chair in the oval office and said, “They came from a secret base in Shangri-La,” referring to the mythical land in James Hilton’s Lost Horizon.6

A month later in a White House ceremony, Roosevelt presented the Congressional Medal of Honor to a reluctant Doolittle, who had been promoted two ranks to brigadier general. Doolittle felt he had done nothing more than anyone else in the squadron and thus did not deserve to be singled out for such an individual honor.

Doolittle’s raid turned out to be more than just a psychological success. It altered the course of the war in the Pacific and helped hasten Japan’s capitulation. Within days, Yamamoto, who had promised his Emperor he would defend the homeland, convinced the military leaders to delay planned thrusts southward to capture Samoa, Fiji and New Caledonia, which would have cut off the shipping lanes between the United States and Australia, and concentrate on a strike eastward against Midway in the central Pacific. The Americans, he told the militarists, must not be allowed to hold any territory from which they could ever again launch more air attacks on the Japanese homeland.

Japan’s military leaders, deeply embarrassed by the Doolittle Raid, quickly approved Yamamoto’s eastward plan of attack and set the date for the first week in June.

America’s resounding triumph at Midway, which included the sinking of four enemy carriers and the loss of hundreds of experienced flyers, would be the beginning of the end for the Japanese military machine.

 

Gen. Douglas MacArthur, who had escaped to Australia from the Philippines in March, had been named Supreme Commander of allied forces in the Southwest Pacific area, which encompassed Australia, New Zealand, New Guinea, the Solomons, the Bismarcks and the Philippines. Admiral Nimitz was commander in chief of everything else in the Pacific that was not under MacArthur’s domain.

MacArthur, who was just as outspoken as King, made it known that his first priority was the capture of the huge Japanese air and naval base at Rabaul on New Britain Island and that his ultimate goal was a return to the Philippines. Nimitz did not agree, proposing instead a series of hit-and-run raids against Tulagi and other island bases in the Solomons.

Both camps wrestled with the thorny issue of command throughout the spring of 1942. The imperious MacArthur took umbrage that Nimitz would suggest an action in his sphere of influence. King moved swiftly to defuse this bone of contention, shifting the area boundary one degree to the west, giving Nimitz control over the lower Solomons, which included Tulagi and Guadalcanal.

King overruled Nimitz’s choice of Adm. William Pye as his South Pacific commander, choosing the aloof Vice Adm. Robert L. Ghormley, who was then the American naval observer in London. Pye had been interim Pacific Fleet commander after Adm. Husband Kimmel was sacked following the Pearl Harbor disaster and it was his order that recalled the Wake Island relief mission on December 23. King, and other members of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, couldn’t forgive Pye’s action to call off the rescue effort, though many historians believe he made the right decision.

Ghormley’s primary asset was his diplomatic experience. He was suave, gentle, patient and tactful, qualities he displayed during his two-year appointment to England. He, like everyone else in the Navy Department, was almost completely ignorant of the South Pacific and the intentions of the Japanese in the area. His elevation to a wartime post in the Pacific proved to be a disappointing one.

“I do not have the tools to give you to carry out that task as it should be,” King told Ghormley prior to the latter’s arrival in Auckland in mid-May. “In time, possibly this fall, we hope to start an offensive from the South Pacific.”7

Ghormley had been handed the most critical job in the fleet, one that would come to a boil much quicker than anybody could imagine.

 

Meanwhile, the American Navy had just survived its first big clash with the Japanese in what was to be called the Battle of the Coral Sea on May 7–8. Tactically, the clash was a stand-off but strategically, it was an American victory because it stopped a planned Japanese invasion of Port Moresby. The Americans lost the carrier Lexington in the battle and suffered heavy damage to the Yorktown, which was quickly repaired to fight again four weeks later.

The Japanese lost a light carrier and suffered heavy battle damage to another. More importantly, American pilots shot down nearly half the carrier-based aircraft employed in the battle, taking with them their irreplaceable pilots.

A few weeks later, Nimitz, under constant prodding from King for some offensive action, proposed a quick strike on Tulagi, a small island off the coast of Florida Island and only twenty miles across the sea from Guadalcanal, by the 1st Marine Raider Battalion, which had recently arrived at Samoa. Tulagi, which was considered the best harbor in the Solomon Islands, had good deep-water ports and a seaplane base. The operation was quickly called off, however, because there weren’t enough available forces to hold the island once taken. Planning continued for something more substantial but Tulagi was kept on the back burner.

King became energized again after the American victory at Midway in early June. He reasoned that the United States should seize the initiative with an attack in the Solomons by August 1. But the plan became mired in politics. General Marshall wanted General MacArthur to command the proposed offensive but King was adamant that the Navy should control the operation. King wired Nimitz in Hawaii in late June to prepare a battle plan on the assumption that only Navy and Marine units would be available.

MacArthur had no intention of letting the Navy take control. It was left to General Marshall to act as a mediator between the Navy and Army. Marshall offered a three-part operation designed to assuage MacArthur’s objection over control. D-day would be August 1.

Task one would be the seizure of Tulagi and the Santa Cruz Islands under Navy control. The latter target was chosen because it had a good airfield site at Ndeni. Task two would be the capture of Lae, Salamaua and the northeast coast of New Guinea and task three would be the attack on Rabaul and adjacent positions in the New Britain–New Ireland area. MacArthur would be in control of the latter two operations.

 

On June 26, barely twelve days after the arrival of the 5th Marines of the 1st Marine Division in Wellington, New Zealand, Maj. Gen. Alexander A. Vandegrift and members of his staff were summoned to a meeting with Admiral Ghormley in Auckland. Vandegrift had no idea what was coming.

“Vandegrift, I have some very disconcerting news,” Ghormley announced in a brusque manner immediately after the two had shaken hands.

“I’m sorry to hear that, admiral,” Vandergrift answered.

“You will be more sorry when you read this,” Ghormley said, handing him a top-secret dispatch from Washington.

“I pulled a chair up to his desk to concentrate on the document. It directed Ghormley to confer with MacArthur concerning an amphibious operation…and we were to land on August 1—less than five weeks away.

“I couldn’t believe it.”8

It was an “alert order” for an operation against Tulagi and “adjacent positions” and Ndeni in the nearby Santa Cruz Islands. Vandegrift would have operational control of the 5th Marines, the 1st Marines, which would arrive in New Zealand in two weeks, the 3rd Defense Battalion, currently in Hawaii, the understrength 1st Parachute Battalion and the 1st Raider Battalion, which had been training in Samoa for two months. To replace his 7th Marines, which were also garrisoned at Samoa, Vandegrift would be given one battalion of the 2nd Marines of the 2nd Marine Division, which had just left San Diego. The other two battalions of the 2nd Marines, however, would be under the direct control of the amphibious commander, Rear Adm. Richmond Kelly Turner, who apparently had plans to use them in a separate operation.

Vandegrift was stunned. He was under the impression that his division, much of it still en route to the South Pacific, would not have to go into action until January 1, 1943. He was told that by the Marine Commandant, Maj. Gen. Thomas Holcomb, who passed this information on to him through Admiral King.

After Vandegrift had digested the message, Ghormley asked him for his opinion.

“I knew only that my division was spread over hell’s half-acre, one-third in Samoa, one-third in New Zealand and one-third still at sea,” Vandegrift would write. “My equipment, much of it new, had to be broken in; my supply had to be sorted and combat-packaged; shortages had to be determined and filled.”

After explaining all this to Ghormley, Vandegrift paused to gather his composure and said: “I just don’t see how we can land anywhere by August first.”

Ghormley nodded in agreement and said: “I don’t see how we can land at all, and I am going to take it up with MacArthur. Meanwhile we’ll have to go ahead as best we can.”9

Vandegrift saluted and left the conference to meet with his staff.

“In addition to being totally unrealistic, the plan was ‘Blue Water Navy’ circa 1907 from start to finish with little or nothing in the way of specific reference to the role of air power,” Merrill B. Twining, an assistant operations officer on Vandegrift’s staff, later wrote. “Guadalcanal was not even mentioned. There was a reference to adjacent islands, obviously inclusive of the group of minor islets close to Tulagi, such as Gavutu and Tanambogo. It most certainly did not include the major island of Guadalcanal, some twenty miles to the south of Tulagi. Guadalcanal—ninety miles long and twenty-five miles wide—possessed the only extensive terrain in the area suitable for developing a major air base—an unsinkable aircraft carrier. Therefore, it was the strategic jewel in the Solomon Islands necklace. The Japanese, apparently aware of this, were believed to be constructing a fighter strip there.”10

Assuming that these widely scattered units could be assembled in time, they still would be totally untrained in division-level tactics. Furthermore, most of the troops would have been at sea for several weeks and their physical conditioning would be less than optimum.

The 1st Marine Division was plainly not ready to go into combat especially without its best regiment. The 7th Marines, a force of some 3,200 men, was in Samoa, having been detached from the division since April. The unit had been stocked with the best personnel in the division and rushed to the South Pacific as a reaction force, only to sit around while the rest of the division was heading off to war.

The 5th Marines, which had been picked over to form the 1st Raider Battalion and to fill out the 7th Marines, arrived in Wellington, New Zealand with Vandegrift and his advance party on June 14. The 1st Marines, which had a strong leadership corps but was basically made up of new recruits, were scheduled to arrive in Wellington in early July. Replacing the 7th Marines would be the 2nd Marines of the 2nd Division, which Vandegrift had never seen before. Also under Vandegrift’s command were three battalions of the division’s artillery unit, the 11th Marines.

The division was far short of being in a satisfactory state of readiness for combat. The vast majority of the ranks were recent enlistees—Pearl Harbor Avengers. Many were in their teens but they were fit and willing. On the other hand, however, most of the NCOs and officers were crusty veterans, who gave the division its moniker as “The Old Breed.”

The old salts and China hands, especially the seasoned gunnery sergeants—the “schoolmarms of the Marines”—had the tough job of turning civilians into killers and not much time to do it. What a colorful bunch they were, too.

“There were professional privates who had spent as much time in the brig as in the barracks,” wrote historian Robert Leckie. “Gamblers, drinkers and connivers, brawlers in starched, creased khaki and natty ‘pisscutter’ caps, they fought sailors and soldiers of every nationality in every bar from Brooklyn to Bangkok; blasphemous and profane with a fine fluency that would astound a London cockney, they were nevertheless dedicated soldiers who knew their hard calling in every detail from stripping a machine gun blindfold to tying a tourniquet with their teeth. They were tough and they knew it, and they exulted in that knowledge.”11

Vandegrift had no choice on when his division would be deployed. Time had run out. He absorbed the bitter news from Ghormley almost without comment, saluted and went about obeying his orders. Vandegrift’s operations officer, Lt. Col. Gerald Thomas, asked why the 2nd Marines couldn’t replace the 7th Marines at Samoa so that the 1st Division could go into battle with its best regiment. Ghormley had no answer, but said he would ask. Apparently Turner, who continued to act like a ground commander rather than an admiral, had plans to use the 7th in another operation at Ndeni in the Santa Cruz Islands, a plan that was quickly shelved. He would later propose forming his own Raider Battalion and also using the 7th Marines in a bizarre plan to establish scattered enclaves along the northern coast of Guadalcanal. He would be quickly disavowed of this latter plan when it was pointed out to him that there was no point in establishing other perimeters if the first could not be held.

Though secrecy was stressed, news of the impending operation spread quickly. A local newspaper in Wellington printed a story announcing the arrival of “a completely equipped expeditionary force of American Marines” and then conjectured that a force such as this is “not usually sent to bases where action is not expected.” One of the headlines read: “Americans to Attack Tulagi.”

As far as the Marines could see, the whole world knew where they were going to hit. It wasn’t a very reassuring situation.

 

Overall tactical command of the operation, dubbed “Watchtower,” was given to Rear Adm. Frank Jack Fletcher, who had won a Medal of Honor at Vera Cruz in 1916. He would be promoted to vice admiral on July 15. Fletcher had recently gained a reputation as an overly cautious officer, one who was predisposed to “play it safe.” This hesitancy to close with and engage the enemy was undoubtedly caused by his losing the carrier Lexington at Coral Sea and the Yorktown at Midway.

Fletcher had also been in command of a third carrier, the Saratoga, during its failed attempt to rescue the Wake Island garrison back on December 23. Some in the Navy, particularly the aircraft pilots, believed he had failed to try hard enough at Wake, ordering his ships to refuel rather than make a quick run to the island. When ordered to call off that mission he quickly obeyed, reportedly throwing his cap to the deck in disgust.

“Marines blamed him for failing to relieve Wake Island,” General Thomas told his biographer, Alan Millett. “Critics then and now thought that he would rather fuel than fight, a reference to his uncanny ability to avoid contact.”12

Only fifty-seven, Fletcher was clearly showing signs of strain and battle fatigue.

Fletcher would have three carriers at his disposal for “Operation Watchtower”—Enterprise, Saratoga and Wasp.

The choice of Turner, who was brought in at the eleventh hour, to command the amphibious force was a good one. He was as audacious as Fletcher was cautious. Also fifty-seven, Turner had done much of the planning for “Watchtower.” He was highly intelligent, and his wire-rimmed glasses and beetle brows gave him the look of a college professor. A man of “corrosive ambition,” he was a tireless worker with little patience for those who couldn’t keep up. He was often arrogant and sometimes difficult to get along with, and he had a furious Irish temper and a biting tongue, one that was as caustic as a shaving stick. Turner was known to some as the “Patton of the Navy” or “Terrible Turner.” In many respects, he was just like King, a man who commanded little affection but much respect.

Second in command to Turner was Rear Adm. Victor Alexander Charles Crutchley of the Royal Navy. He would have tactical command of the destroyers and cruisers that had the job of protecting Turner’s troop transports. Crutchley had not wanted the job believing that it was more appropriate for an American flag officer. Turner rejected any such suggestion.

Crutchley, fifty-one, was a tall man with a bushy red beard and mustache that hid a battle scar he received in World War I where he earned the Victoria Cross in a night action. Australian sailors called him “Old Goat’s Whiskers.”

Vandegrift, fifty-five, had assumed command of the 1st Marine Division in March. A quiet, unassuming man, he was a protégé of the legendary Gen. Smedley Butler, known as “Old Gimlet Eye” to his contemporaries. Butler was a man who had won two Medals of Honor, the first at Vera Cruz in 1914 and the second in Haiti the following year. Like his mentor, Vandegrift was a superb judge of men. Just under 5-foot-9, Vandegrift had been the quarterback of his high school football team in Charlottesville, Va. He had a sturdy build, a hard jaw and a large dimple in his chin.

His grandfather, Carson Vandegrift, fought as a soldier in the Monticello Guards in the Civil War and was wounded at Antietam and in Pickett’s Charge at Gettysburg. He was also at Appomattox when General Lee surrendered. A deacon of the local Baptist church, the elder Vandegrift would pray to “the God of Abraham, Isaac, Jacob, Robert E. Lee and Stonewall Jackson.” He dominated the family, instilling in his admiring grandson a firm resolve to make the military his career.13

Asked to explain later in his career why he admired Jackson so, Vandegrift replied: “Because he could do so much with so little.” It was a quality that he would acquire over the next several months.

A perpetual optimist, Vandegrift had been given the nickname of “Sunny Jim” by his mentor, General Butler, for the lighthearted way he obeyed an order. Vandegrift, called “Archer” by his friends, was an extremely courteous man with large blue eyes, rosy cheeks, thinning sandy hair and a long belligerent nose. He was also afflicted with a night blindness that would in his declining years lead to the loss of his eyesight. He spoke in a soft voice with a Virginia drawl and almost always referred to the enemy as Japanese. Rarely did he use the term Japs and he never referred to the enemy as Nips.

“Vandegrift was a classic Virginia gentleman,” Twining wrote about his boss. “I have heard him harden his voice but I never heard him raise it—not even at me.”

Vandegrift had little stomach for personal battles, preferring to let his two key staff members, Thomas and Twining, do all the dirty work needed to run a division.

Although Thomas and Twining occasionally disagreed they quickly became allied in the battle for the heart and mind of Vandegrift. They had no challengers in the command post but worried that when Vandegrift was out of their sight he might be influenced by one of his regimental commanders that might get some Marines killed.

By the end of September, Thomas would dominate not only the division staff but the entire division, according to his biographer, Alan Millett. “He did not seek power for its own sake,” wrote Millett, “but he rose to this position because he believed the division had come to Guadalcanal to give the United States its first offensive victory over Japan. His sure-handed, clear-headed management of the defense made him second only to General Vandegrift as the architect of victory. To play this role, he not only outthought the Japanese commanders he faced but outmaneuvered some Marines as well, including Vandegrift himself.”14

Vandegrift would come to rely greatly on his staff, trusting that their judgment would more than offset any doubts he may have had about his own capabilities. He said as much in a letter he mailed to his wife, Mildred, shortly after leaving the country.

“When you remember me in your prayers, as I know you will,” he wrote, “ask that I be given the judgment and ability to lead this splendid outfit so that it will accomplish its task with the least possible loss.”15
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Cactus




Turner and Nimitz met with King in San Francisco on July 3 to firm up the opening phase of the Pacific offensive, which at that time included only Tulagi and the Santa Cruz Islands. Much of that changed two days later when it was discovered that the Japanese were stepping up construction of an airfield on Guadalcanal. Detailed intelligence gathered from aerial reconnaissance and coastwatcher Martin Clemens revealed that a twelve-ship Japanese convoy had docked at Lunga Point and had unloaded four heavy-duty tractors, six road rollers, two generators, an ice plant, two tiny locomotives and a dozen hopper cars. Also coming ashore were two construction battalions and 400 fighting troops to guard them.

Allied planners temporarily deleted the Santa Cruz Islands from the operation and substituted Guadalcanal, giving it the code name “Cactus.” Also added were the twin islands of Gavutu-Tanamboko near Tulagi. Tulagi had been given the code-name “Ringbolt.”

Vandegrift’s primary mission was to capture the airfield on Guadalcanal and hold it until relieved by Army troops. Little did he know that it would take his Marines four months to complete the job before being relieved by the Army.

MacArthur and Ghormley had been quick to express pessimistic views of the entire operation from the beginning. They sent a message to the Joint Chiefs that they were “of the opinion, arrived at independently, and confirmed after discussion, that the initiation of the operation at this time, without a reasonable assurance of adequate air coverage, would be attended with the gravest risk.”1

Each wanted a delay to give them time to beef up their own forces but the Joint Chiefs voted on July 10 to proceed in order “to stop without delay the enemy’s southward advance.” The Chiefs also noted in their decision that a quick action would take advantage of the loss of some 400 aircraft suffered by the Japanese at Coral Sea and Midway. The Japanese, the Chiefs also reasoned, were not expecting any significant counterattack by the Americans until 1943.

Vandegrift’s staff was under no illusions. They immediately began calling Operation Watchtower “Operation Shoestring” among themselves.

Vandegrift sent his intelligence officers to find out all they could about Guadalcanal, a large, jungle-covered island in the southern Solomons. Ghormley vetoed a proposal to land a small reconnaissance force on Guadalcanal by submarine as too dangerous.

The Marines gathered what intelligence they could from outdated and incomplete maps and a single photo flight over the island in an Army B-17. The flight showed there were no beach defenses on the north coast in the Lunga Point area where the Japanese had begun construction of an airfield. Although MacArthur’s intelligence section had completed a detailed photo-map of Guadalcanal three weeks earlier, it never became available to the Marine planners. In a colossal screwup, the maps were mailed by the Army to an improper address in Auckland where they languished for over a month.

The Solomon Islands stretch for 600 miles southeast from New Guinea in a long volcanic and coral chain. A sixteenth-century Spanish explorer had come upon the chain while in search of King Solomon’s storied realm of Ophir and had named one of the largest of the islands Wadi-en-Canar after a village in Spain. In time that name became Guadalcanal. The British established a protectorate over the southern islands, which included Guadalcanal, in 1893 and set up their administrative headquarters on the nearby island of Tulagi.

Tulagi, with its great harbor, had been the capital of the British Solomons, featuring a street of shops, a hotel, a wireless station and a number of bungalows built for the administrators. It also had a cricket field and a small pitch-and-putt golf course. There were no cars on the island. People walked everywhere and took a launch to nearby islands.

Guadalcanal, on the other hand, was called “a bloody, stinking hole” by the Australians, which was exactly what it was.2 From the air the island, a mere twenty miles across Sealark Channel from Tulagi, looked like a green jewel set in a blue-green sea. From ground level, however, the island was a teeming mass of untamed jungles that were wet, unfriendly and unhealthful, offering no natural resources but mud, coconuts and malarial mosquitoes.

The Solomons are one of the world’s wettest areas. Rainfall in some places exceeds 200 inches per year. During a twenty-year period before the war, annual rainfall at Tulagi averaged 164 inches. Temperatures range from 73 to 93 degrees Fahrenheit and humidity is high. Northwest monsoons bring almost daily rain during the wet season from November to March. The term “dry” is relative, for southeast trade winds bring frequent rains during the dry season.

No complete topographical map of the island existed nor would one be available during the entire campaign. Vandegrift’s intelligence officers came to believe the enemy garrison in the area to be about 8,400. The actual count was 3,457. Of that total, some 2,571 were stationed on Guadalcanal, mostly Korean laborers working on the airfield.3 There were about 1,000 infantry-trained naval troops on Tulagi and the nearby seaplane base on the conjoined islands of Gavutu-Tanambogo.

Vandegrift’s plan was to split his division into two task forces. He would take the 1st and 5th Marines, the latter minus one battalion, and a battalion of the 11th Marines, some 11,000 men in all, and land just to the east of Lunga Point on the north coast of Guadalcanal. Their mission would be to capture and hold the airfield. The second group, under the command of the assistant division commander, Brig. Gen. William B. Rupertus, consisted of about 6,000 men and included a battalion from the 5th Marines (2/5), the 1st Raider Battalion (875 men), 1st Parachute Battalion (about 375 men), with the 2nd Marines in reserve. This force would seize Tulagi and the twin islands of Gavutu-Tanambogo.

The Guadalcanal landing would be supported by aircraft from the Saratoga and planes from the Wasp were assigned to Tulagi. Aircraft from the Enterpise would provide cover for the three carriers and engage in patrol missions.

Once Tulagi and the landing field on Guadalcanal had been taken, the Expeditionary Force would occupy Ndeni, some 350 miles to the east. Engineers were to be ready to work on airfields on Guadalcanal and Ndeni immediately. Airfield construction material and troops would be sent forward as soon as possible. To free the Amphibious Force for further offensive action, occupation troops were to be dispatched to relieve the Marines. Operation Plan No. 1-42 did not specifically designate the forces to effect the relief and occupation but stated that orders would be issued at a later date.

To expedite combat loading operations of the troop transports in New Zealand, the Marines would take only what they needed to actually live and fight. All excess clothing, bedding rolls and company property was stored until they returned. Most heavy vehicles, the entire twelve-gun 155-mm heavy artillery battalion and much of the ammunition had to be left behind.

The reloading of the ships in Wellington, New Zealand took place during weeks of heavy rain and with a lack of cooperation from the local dock workers. The local unions, believing that the longer the job took, the longer the pay lasted, proceeded at a snail’s pace. They stopped for morning and afternoon tea, and if it rained, they didn’t work at all. Vandegrift fired them, replacing them with Marines, who did not drink tea and who worked in shifts around the clock. When the Marines could get to town, some amused themselves by scrawling obscene references to New Zealand dock workers on the walls of hotel lavatories. “All wharfees is bastards” was one of the most restrained of the recorded graffiti.

The dock area became a quagmire as “drenched men wrestled with rain soaked cartons of clothing, food, medicines, cigarettes and chocolate bars. The cheap card board containers containing Navy rations and Marine Corps supplies disintegrated; one officer remembers walking a hundred yards through a swamp of sodden cornflakes dotted with mushed Hershey bars, smashed cigar boxes, odd shoes and stained, soggy bundles of socks. Lack of time, restricted port facilities, terrible weather, improper packaging, and uncooperative labor combined to create what Vandegrift described, in language notable for moderation, as ‘an unparalleled logistical problem.’ Others in less elegant terminology described the dock area as ‘a muckedup swamp.’”4

It soon became apparent that the timetable for an August 1 landing could not be met. The second echelon of the division, the 1st Marines, were late reaching New Zealand—they arrived on July 11—and the ships had to be unloaded and then combat-loaded in the order of their need in an assault landing. On July 18, Vandegrift met with Ghormley in Auckland and asked for a delay. King agreed to move the landing up to August 4 and then, after further protest, he made a final compromise to August 7. The date could not be postponed further lest the Japanese complete their airstrip for use against the Allied forces. As it was, there was no time to combat-load several of the ships.

 

This hybrid, half-trained and thoroughly scattered division finally got underway on July 22 and headed to the island of Koro in the Fiji Islands about 1,550 miles southeast of Guadalcanal for a series of rehearsals. The convoy, the largest armada in U.S. history up to that time, would eventually consist of 82 vessels—three carriers (Enterprise, Saratoga, Wasp), one battleship (North Carolina), 14 cruisers, 31 destroyers, 19 transports, five minesweepers, five fueling ships and four converted destroyer transport ships (APDs).

The armada consisted of virtually every ship type in the U.S. Navy. Men rushed topside from each ship, staring in awe at the might and power of this huge naval force.

Not everybody went to look at the fleet, however, as a good-sized gale kept many buttoned up, as General Vandegrift noted in a letter to his wife, dated July 24.

“Lord, what a day. Woke up this morning with everything on the deck sailing across the room and the doors banging. It seems we ran into a storm during the night and this ship has been literally rolling her decks under. There are quite a few seasick. To tell the truth, I’m not feeling too well myself, but have made all the meals.”

A council of war was held aboard Fletcher’s flagship, the carrier Saratoga, on July 26. All the major players were there, except Vice Admiral Ghormley, who sent his deputy, Rear Adm. Dan Callaghan. Ghormley later said that he “was desirous of attending this conference, but found it impossible to give the time necessary for travel with possible attendant delays.” At the time, Ghormley was busy moving his headquarters from Auckland to Noumea on the island of New Caledonia.

It was “a critical error of judgment,”5 according to historian Frank.

Ghormley would remain “out of the picture” for the entire operation. He would be referred to by some of his contemporaries in the coming weeks as “the traffic cop of the Southwest Pacific” and “Nimitz’s errand boy.”6

The gathering got off to a comedic start for Rear Adm. John S. McCain, the man who commanded all of Ghormley’s aircraft in the South Pacific. As McCain was climbing up a Jacob’s ladder to board the Saratoga, a garbage chute swung open on the carrier and showered the admiral with milk.

“(McCain) managed to retain his hold but a startled officer of the deck soon faced one mad little admiral,” Vandegrift wrote.7

It was an ominous beginning to what would become a highly contentious meeting.

“The conference took place in the wardroom, a big, pleasant cabin with drapes and leather sofas where the ship’s officers ate their meals and relaxed when off watch (and where courts-martial were held),” wrote historian John Foster. “The conferees sat at a long table covered with green felt, Fletcher at the head, Turner on his right, Vandegrift on his left.

“A Marine in fresh khaki, with a .45-caliber pistol on his hip, stood by the door, which was closed and dogged. The sliding panel to the officers’ pantry was shut so the stewards couldn’t hear.”8

Vandegrift, who had never met Fletcher, later said he was shocked at the indifference shown by Fletcher to the task at hand, adding that he “seemed nervous and tired, probably the result of the recent battles of Coral Sea and Midway.”

Fletcher seemed to regard the upcoming operation as an amphibious hit-and-run raid rather than the seizure of a permanent foothold in the Solomons and had made plans accordingly. He exhibited no enthusiasm whatsoever.

“(Fletcher) appeared to lack knowledge of or interest in the forthcoming operation,” Vandegrift would later write. “He quickly let us know he did not think it would succeed.”9

Turner spoke next, but before he could complete more than a few sentences, he was interrupted by Fletcher.

“How long will it take to land the troops and their gear?” Fletcher asked.

“About five days,” Turner replied.

“I’m leaving in two days,” Fletcher said matter-of-factly. “I can’t risk an attack against my carriers any longer than that.”10

There were only four American carriers left in the Pacific and three of them were here—only the Hornet was missing. Fletcher, who had already lost two carriers earlier in the year, was very sensitive about losing any more.

Fletcher turned to a stunned Vandegrift and told him that many of the transport and cargo ships were on loan from MacArthur’s command and must be returned in a couple of days. When the fleet left, they would have to go, too.

There was little time for discussion or argument. Fletcher passed out his operations plan and that was that. There weren’t even enough copies to go around. Ghormley never did see one until a month later.

After a brief discussion, which consisted mostly of objections from Turner and Vandegrift, Fletcher compromised and agreed to keep his carrier forces around until the third day.

“My Dutch blood was beginning to boil, but I forced myself to remain calm while explaining to Fletcher that the days ‘of landing a small force and leaving’ were over,” Vandegrift wrote. “This operation was supposed to take and hold Guadalcanal and Tulagi. To accomplish this I commanded a heavily reinforced division which I was to land on enemy-held territory, which meant a fight. I could hardly expect to land this massive force without air cover—even the five days mentioned by Turner involved a tremendous risk.”11

“Although Turner heatedly backed me,” Vandegrift wrote, “Fletcher curtly announced that he would stay until the third day. With that he dismissed the conference.”12

Rear Adm. Daniel Callaghan, Ghormley’s chief of staff and representative at the meeting, took a few notes but didn’t say a word. Those in the room knew they would get no input from a man “whose principal qualification for the demanding post he occupied was that he had been President Roosevelt’s naval aide.”13

 

If Vandegrift was dismayed by what he heard from Fletcher, he was even more disappointed in the rehearsals conducted over the next several days. He likened it to a Chinese fire drill. Absolutely nothing went right.

“We had landing exercises today,” Vandegrift wrote his wife on July 28. “It took too long to get the boats out and too long to get the troops in the boats.”

One of the most serious handicaps was the necessity for maintaining radio silence, which made ground-to-air communication impossible and impeded the coordination of ground force attacks with close air support.

Firing exercises were limited to conserve ammunition. Reef conditions made landings too dangerous for the men and too hazardous to the fragile, wooden Higgins boats. Landings were canceled after only about one-third of the Marines actually landed. For most, landing operations consisted of getting in and out of the irreplaceable Higgins boats. Boat crews practiced assembling into formations and taking their positions for the ship-to-shore movement, then turning about and heading back to the mother ship.

The landing crafts were not in the best of condition. On one transport a dozen boats were out of service. Those that worked coughed, sputtered and snorted like buses. Some would not start at all, floundering in the sea like wounded whales. The newer boats with retractable bow ramps were not available. They had been reserved for the American landings in North Africa, which would take place in November. What were left were tired old training vessels dredged up from Kaneohe Bay in Hawaii, Quantico and Parris Island, veterans of hundreds of practice landing operations, many of them worn out and far from combat ready.

Ships of all sizes milled around in aimless pursuits, nearly running into each other or into the treacherous reef. Unit integrity was in absolute shambles. The first casualty of the operation may have been a young lieutenant who was horsing around aboard ship with his roommate.

“Two first lieutenants in the cabin next to mine were seeing which could draw his pistol quicker. Frontier stuff,” wrote division historian Herb Merillat. “They not only whipped their Colts from the holsters but clicked the triggers. A .45-caliber bullet tore through a cabin-mate’s body. Tonight after chow the colonel gave officers a lecture on playing with firearms. One officer is out of commission, he said, and another probably will be, for a different reason.”14

Vandegrift, who firmly believed in the necessity for complete rehearsals, called the training exercises “dubious” and labeled the rehearsal a “complete bust,” but later softened his opinion.

“In retrospect it probably was not that bad,” he said. “At the very least it got the boats off the transports, and the men down the nets and away. It uncovered deficiencies such as defective boat engines in time to have them repaired and gave both Turner and me a chance to take important corrective measures in other spheres.”15

“Sunny Jim” Vandegrift, ever the optimist, consoled himself by remembering an old show business adage that proclaimed that a “poor rehearsal traditionally meant a good show.”16

He could only pray that would be the case.

 

Most of the 1st Raider Battalion loaded aboard four old converted destroyers—the USS Little, Colhoun, Gregory and McKean—on July 24 at New Caledonia and set out for the rehearsal area off the Fiji Islands. The high-speed transports, called APDs, were former four-stack destroyers of World War I vintage. The two forward boilers and stacks had been removed to allow the ships to transport about 150 men. Of the original six APDs, only two, the USS Manley and USS Stringham, survived the war. (More about these tough little ships and their brave crews later.)

A fifth transport failed to show at New Caledonia, temporarily stranding Easy Company of the Raiders. Three days later, however, the unit embarked on the SS Monowai, a former New Zealand passenger liner that had been fitted with two 4-inch guns and several 20-mm antiaircraft guns before being pressed into service as an armed cruiser.

Instead of a cramped troopship, Easy Company enjoyed most of the comforts of home while hurrying to catch up with the rest of the battalion.

“The officers aboard had their own staterooms and tea was served in the morning,” Lt. John Sweeney of E Company remembered. “I thought it was a perfectly wonderful way to go off to war.”17

The captain of the Monowai wanted to take the Raiders all the way to Tulagi but was denied permission. Instead, the Raider unit transferred to the USS Heywood, already jammed with troops from other units assigned to the Tulagi campaign.

The invasion would be well covered by the media. Richard Tregaskis, a tall, gangly reporter, who would write the famed novel Guadalcanal Diary, and Robert Miller of United Press were aboard the Crescent City, Ralph Morse of Life magazine was on the Vincennes, Joe James Custer of United Press was on the Quincy and Foster Hailey of the New York Times was aboard the Minneapolis. Aboard the Wasp were Clark Lee of the Associated Press and Jack Singer of International News Service. Tregaskis and Miller would land with Vandegrift’s forces on Guadalcanal on the first day.

As the massive armada sailed into history, one anonymous Raider captured the scene perfectly with a verse to the song “Bless ’em All” that went:


They sent for the Navy to come to Tulagi;

The Navy responded with speed.

In 10,000 sections, from 16 directions,

Oh Lord, what a screwed-up stampede.



After dusk on July 31, the armada, concealed by low clouds and operating under radio silence, turned north in the Coral Sea and headed for the objective area and a date with destiny as the first U.S. amphibious invasion since the Spanish-American War.
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